THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JAN 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
THE HONORABLE JOCELYN NEWMAN  
Circuit Court Judge  
Fifth Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No. 2019-002076  
CASE NO: 2018-CP-400-5641

RONALD I. PAUL.....Appellant,

V.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court err in dismissing the complaint in its entirety and dismissing SCDOT as an improper party that contained a State Law claim; action for declaratory judgment under South Carolina code section 28-2-10, *et seq* and 28-2-40, Compromise or settlement permit, that included all Respondents SCDOT, Rucker, Gresham, Moore, de Holczer Quinn and Ormond?
- II. Did the Court err in ruling that, as a matter of law, that the applicable statute of limitations is three years and dismissing with prejudice?
- III. Did the Court err in dismissing case number 2018-CP-400-5641 as a new limitations period is created with each overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy, and the statute of limitations begins to run on the date of the last overt act?
- IV. Did the Court err in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss citing *res judicata* (claim preclusion) and collateral estoppel (issue preclusion) where the United States District Court of South Carolina dismissed the previous cases without prejudice, is inconsistent with years of United States Supreme Court and other appellate Court precedents, and therefore erroneously found that Appellant's federal claims were dismissed on the merits in federal court and not because of any correctable pleading deficiency?
- V. Did the Court err in granting Respondent's Quinn and Ormond motion to dismiss when the complaint had stated facts to support the Sections 1983 civil conspiracy claim and that they were state actors, and compounded the error by relying upon, and unpublished opinion with no precedential value?
- VI. Did the Court err in dismissing the Complaint with prejudice and without an opportunity to replead or amend, in this post-*Knick* world?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 26, 2018 Ronald I. Paul filed a Summons and Complaint case number 2018-CP-400-5641 under the civil rights federal statute 42 USC 1983 for declaratory judgment (State claim or action) and civil conspiracy in State court seeking payment for his property taken pursuant to the South Carolina Eminent Domain Procedures Act, Section 28-2-10, *et seq.*, without payment of just compensation, *in other words to be clearly, zero \$0.00. dollars and cents.* (R 31-59)

Paul asserted a civil right cause of action under Section 1983 for declaratory judgment (State claim or action (432 lines 17-25, 433 lines 1-7 )) and civil conspiracy under 42 U.S.C. 1983 against all named Respondents'. (R 55-59)

The Complaint shows that the source of Paul injury is the Respondents' conduct, that the Respondents' conduct caused the adverse state court orders, and their conduct is an independent claim. The Complaint did not seek to have the State Court judgments voided or reversed. (R 139-140, 151-152)

On or about November 20, 26, and 27, 2018, all Respondents filed motion to dismiss, under South Carolina Rules of civil procedure, Rule12 (b)(6) and Respondents SCDOT, de Holzcer and Moore filed a motion for summary judgement under Rule 56, SCRCF. (R 60-70, 395 lines 1-6) *As of today, Respondents have not filed answers to the Appellant's Complaint to this action.* (R 261-262, 265)

On February 11, 2019, the Respondents motions to dismiss and SCDOT, de Holzcer and Moore motion for summary judgement was scheduled and heard before

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. (R 300-328) Judge Early held the Respondents motion in abeyance. (R 325 lines 10-14)

On or about May 2019, time frame, the court ordered mediation deadline date, July 31, 2019, was approaching. Therefore, out of an abundance of caution, Paul insisted on proceeding with mediation in accordance with the ADR Notice which requires mediation to be held. Paul requested that mediation go forward on July 12, 2019. (R 447)

On or about May 17, 2019, based upon Mr. Lindemann representation, attorney for State officials ex parte emailed / communicated with Judge Early using his private email address that he obtained through another lawyer not connected with this case, about Respondents pending motions to dismiss and motion for summary judgment. (R 282)

On July 10, 2019, Mr. Osborne Eugene Powell, the court appointed mediator in this case, filed a Mediation Status update. (R 447)

On July 17, 2019, Mr. Lindemann filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Defer Mediation pursuant to Rule 5(e). The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III was holding the Respondents motions to dismiss and for summary judgment in abeyance. The motion requested re-scheduling of these motions. In addition, the motion requested that mediation be deferred until such time as the Motions filed by each of the Respondents have been heard and fully adjudicated by the Court.

On July 30, 2019, without scheduling a hearing the Court filed a scheduling order finds that the rehearing of certain motions is necessary pursuant to Rule 63,

SCRCP, due to the retirement of the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III., re-scheduling motions to dismiss and for summary judgment for Thursday, August 8, 2019, at 9:30 am and Mediation before December 31, 2019. (R 13-14)

At the hearing held on August 8, 2019, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman, granted the motions, (R 445 lines 4-7) and on August 9, 2019, filed a Form 4 Order. The form 4 order, titled "Judgment in a civil case" indicate that a Formal Order was to follow. (R 15-17)

On November 13, 2019, Judge Newman filed the Formal Order that omitted Summary Judgment that is granted in the form 4 order filed on August 9, 2019. (R 18-27)

On November 25, 2019 Appellant filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion within the ten-day period allowed by the rule that addressed issues raised in the formal order filed on November 13, 2019. (R 280-391)

Judge Newman denied Appellant's Motion to Reconsider filed on November 25, 2019, with a form 4 order filed on November 26, 2019. (R 28-30)

Appellant timely served and filed his Notice of Appeal on December 20, 2019.

On October 26, 2020, Appellant received from the court reporter a copy of the long-awaited transcript for the motion hearing held on August 8, 2019. Warning the transcript have multiple errors.

**STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

See Complaint filed on October 26, 2018 for statement of the facts before October 26, 2018, *because Respondents have not filed answers.* (R 261-262, 265)

This area intentionally left blank.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

See Cowart v. Poore 337 S.C. 359 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999) The ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC motion to dismiss must be based solely upon the allegations set forth in the complaint. State Bd. of Med. Exam'rs v. Fenwick Hall, Inc., 300 S.C. 274, 387 S.E.2d 458 (1990). On review, the motion will not be sustained if the facts alleged, and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995); Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 353 S.E.2d 697 (1987). The question to be considered is whether in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987); Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); Gentry v. Yonce, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137 (1999).

Rule 12(b)(6) permits the trial court to address the sufficiency of a pleading stating a claim; it is not a vehicle for addressing the underlying merits of the claim. See, e.g. , Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Harrell , 393 S.C. 552, 557, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011) ("In considering a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the circuit court must base its ruling solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint."); Brown v. Leverette , 291 S.C. 364, 366, 353 S.E.2d 697, 698 (1987) ("... solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint"); see also Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly , 550 U.S. 544, 556, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 1965, 167 L.Ed.2d 929, 940-41 (2007) ("[A] well-pleaded complaint may proceed even if it

strikes a savvy judge that actual proof of those facts is improbable, and that a recovery is very remote and unlikely.") (internal quotations omitted); Republican Party of N. Carolina v. Martin, 980 F.2d 943, 952 (4th Cir. 1992) ("A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) tests the sufficiency of a complaint; importantly, it does not resolve contests surrounding the facts, the merits of a claim, or the applicability of defenses."). At the Rule 12 stage, therefore, the first decision for the trial court is to decide only whether the pleading states a claim. Paul is entitled to litigate the validity of its complaint without having to convince the trial court of the merits of its underlying claim, see Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry Cnty. 426 S.C. 175 (S.C. 2019) 826 S.E.2d 585 Decided Mar 13, 2019) in the Supreme Court of South Carolina.

This area intentionally left blank.

## ARGUMENTS

I The Court erred in dismissing the complaint in its entirety and dismissing SCDOT as an improper party that contained a State Law claim; action for declaratory judgment under South Carolina code section 28-2-10, *et seq and 28-2-40*, Compromise or settlement permit, that included all Respondents SCDOT, Rucker, Gresham, Moore, de Holczer Quinn and Ormond.

The Appellant brought a declaratory judgment action against SCDOT and all the other Respondents seeking, *inter alia*, a declaration. (R 55) On pages 24-25, paragraphs 101-106 Appellant's identify the federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, 2202 and Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.<sup>1</sup> (R 55-56)

As a basis for the relief sought, the power to issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to those statutes and rule are discretionary, as the declaratory relief sought would—in and of itself—serve a useful purpose in clarifying the parties' legal relations.<sup>2</sup> ( R 55, 434 lines 7-25, 435 lines 1-25, 436 lines 1-25 )

The declaratory relief sought was—in fact—a State Law claim or action under South Carolina code section 28-2-10, *et seq and 28-2-40* Compromise or settlement permit; South Carolina code section 15-53-10, *et seq* and Rule 57 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.<sup>3</sup> (R 55, 432 lines 17-25, 433 lines 1-7)

---

<sup>1</sup> The district court had declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claim, dismissing it without prejudice. (R 432 lines 17-25, 433 lines 1-7, 183)

<sup>2</sup> Even though this action is substantively brought under federal law, namely 42 U.S.C 1983 civil conspiracy, the procedural aspects of the case are governed by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure *See, Norton v. Norfolk Southern Railway Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 567 S.E.2d 851, 853 (2002) ( federal claim brought in state court “ is controlled by federal substantive law and state procedural law”) Therefore, SCRCP 57, is applicable to this case. This is the same as the language of Federal Rule 57 except that the appropriate State Code references are substituted for the Federal statute.

<sup>3</sup> *Greer v. McFadden*, 295 S.C. 14, 17, 366 S.E.2d 263, 265 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding even if a pro se claim is not framed with expert precision, where the point is clear, the issue should be addressed)

THE COURT: Why did you choose to do that?

(R 432 line 17)

MR. PAUL: Your Honor, when I was filing in Federal Court, Judge Curry had -- wouldn't take concurrent jurisdiction and it's in one of her orders. She refused to take concurrent jurisdiction over the settlement agreement. She called it a "contract-based claim," that, you know, from my understanding, that you need -- to settle that in State Court. I'm not -- I'm not going to deal with the settlement agreement. You need to deal with that in State Court; but she didn't say them [sic] exact words, but she put it in her order say that it's a contract State based claim and she refused to take concurrent jurisdiction.

She -- she didn't use them [sic] exact words, but basically, that's what she said. And that's why I'm here in the State Court.

(R 432 lines 18-25, 433 lines 1-7)

Therefore, in case 4800 (2002-CP-400-4800 Eminent Domain case hereinafter referred to as "case 4800"). On or about February - March 23, 2004 Quinn, Buckles, SCDOT, Rucker, Gresham, Moore and de Holczer agreed to a settlement between them. (R 266, 305 lines 13-15)

In that all Respondents, including Ormond took a position claiming and declaring case 4800 had settled for just compensation. This was an intentionally false statement, because all Respondents knew without Paul's consent or approval, as a matter of law, Respondents could not settle the case for just compensation. (R 55-59, 434 lines 7-25, 435 lines 1-25, 436 lines 1-25)

Now, as set forth above, there exists an actual controversy between Appellant and Respondents as to whether the settlement agreement in case 4800 between SCDOT and the Buckles applied equally to Paul, as just compensation. (R 55, 305)

Therefore, Appellant seek declaratory relief and a judicial determination pursuant to: (R 55-56, 305 lines 13-21 )

Section 28-2-10, *et seq* and 28-2-40. Compromise or settlement permit. At any time before or after commencement of an action, the parties may agree to and carry out, according to its terms, a compromise or settlement as to any matter, including all or any part of the compensation or other relief and, South Carolina code section 15-53-10, *et seq* and Rule 57 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure:

- (a) That Respondents are prohibited / barred from enforcing the settlement agreement between SCDOT and the Buckles as payment of just compensation against or/ to Paul, because the evidence shows Paul never agree to any settlement;
- (b) That Respondents are prohibited / barred for all time enforcement of the settlement agreement between SCDOT and Buckles as payment of just compensation against or/ to Paul, because Paul was not a party to any settlement negotiations;
- (c) That Respondents are prohibited / barred for all time enforcement of the settlement agreement between SCDOT and Buckles as payment of just compensation against or/ to Paul, because Paul did not sign the consent order to settle the case;
- (d) That Respondents are prohibited / barred for all time enforcement of the settlement agreement between SCDOT and Buckles as payment of just compensation against or/ to Paul, because the settlement did not include an appraisal of Paul property (highest and best use).

"In South Carolina jurisprudence, settlement agreements are viewed as contracts." *Harris-Jenkins v. Nissan Car Mart, Inc.*, 348 S.C. 171, 177, 557 S.E.2d 708, 711 (Ct.App. 2001); *Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct. App. 2009)

Because of the foregoing Paul has suffered a denial of its Constitutional rights, the right to payment for taking of his property as otherwise allowed in

accordance with the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment, *in other words to be clearly, zero \$0.00. dollars and cents*, (R 248-249) and the resultant financial damages approximating \$310,000.00. (R 56-57)

The Court concluded that the “Defendant SCDOT is not a “person” or proper party not just for money damages claims but also for claims seeking injunctive or prospective relief. Thus, the Defendant SCDOT is dismissed on this additional basis”. (R 25) However, count one for declaratory judgment, is a State Law claim or action that includes SCDOT to resolve an actual controversy. (R 55, 434 line 7- p 436 line 25) See McCall v. Batson, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985)

Lastly, in count one, Respondents statute of limitations argument is without merit, as “statutes of limitations are not controlling measures of equitable relief.” Holmberg v. Armbrecht, 327 U.S. 392, 396, 66 S.Ct. 582, 584, 90 L.Ed. 743 (1946) In count one, equitable relief is all that Appellant has sought. (R 55 #105 (a) (b), 56 (c) (d)

*As of today, Respondents have not filed answers to the Appellant’s Complaint to this action.* (R 261-262, 265)

**II. The Court erred in ruling that, as a matter of law, that the applicable statute of limitations is three years and dismissing the complaint with prejudice.**

Sealed Instrument

On August 8, 2019, Appellant argued in his motion and before the Court that the applicable statute of limitations is twenty years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-520(b), which provides for a twenty-year statute of limitations for an action upon a sealed instrument. (R 205) When questioned by the Court:

THE COURT: if Federal law determines it, then why'd you just tell me about South Carolina Code 15-5-520 because that's a State law. So, if your argument is that the Federal law is what determines the statute of limitations, why is 15-5-520 important at all?

(R 422 lines 9-13)

MR. PAUL: Well, State law -- Federal law bar(borrow) the State law statute of limitation.

(R 422 lines 14-17)

Appellant argued a section 1983 action borrow the State law statute of limitation for personal injury actions. Under South Carolina law, the statute of limitations for a personal injury claim is three years. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(5) “an action for assault, battery, or any injury to the person or rights of another, ***not arising on contract*** and not enumerated by law, and those provided for in Section 15-3-545)”).

In this matter, the particular facts of the case would lead to an expansion of Paul's rights, not diminution. Because Paul commercial lease, a sealed instrument “***arising on contract***” was a required part of the eminent

domain transaction in case 4800 selling, buying, and transferring property.

The Court overlooked the language of section 15-3-530 (5) that expanded the statute, that S.C. Code section 15-3-530 (1) and 15-3-520(b) applies within, and therefore is an arm of S.C. Code section 15-3-530 (5).

Then go to Richland County Register of Deeds, Record Book 00593-1478 and Renewal Record Book 00868-2723 pursuant to judicial notice of this fact as records of the Richland County Register of Deeds are “generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court” and the “accuracy of which cannot be reasonably questioned.” S.C. R. Evid. 201 (b) and further notes case law (Byerly v. Connor, 307 S.C. 441, --- 415 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1992).

“In the state of South Carolina, “when land is occupied by a lessee, as in this case, the law of property regards the lease as equivalent to a sale of the premises for the term of the lease. In the absence of an agreement to the contrary, the lessor surrenders possession and control of the land to the lessee.” Byerly v. Connor, 307 S.C. 441, --- 415 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1992).”

On October 21, 2002, when SCDOT, Oscar K. Rucker, Macie M. Gresham, Natalie J. Moore and Paul D. de Holczer filed an Amended Condemnation Notice against Paul, as a matter of law, pursuant to the Eminent Domain Procedure Act, S.C. Code Ann. §28-2-10, *et seq.*, they inherited Paul’s commercial lease a sealed instrument. (R 37-38)

On or about October 28, 2003, the state official terminated Paul’s commercial lease a sealed instrument, without payment of just compensation to Paul, *in other words to be clearly, zero \$0.00. dollars and cents.* (R 39, 248-249)

According to the four corners of the Complaint, in this case, the statute of limitations is 20 years upon a sealed instrument (Paul Commercial Lease) S.C. Code section 15-3-520 (b). In this case, the order applies the wrong statute.

**III. The Court erred in dismissing case number 2018-CP-400-5641 as a new limitations period is created with each overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy, and the statute of limitations begins to run on the date of the last overt act.**

Appellant argued, the statute of limitations for conspiracy "runs from the last overt act during the existence of the conspiracy." Fiswick v. United States, 329 U.S. 211, 216 (1946) (citing Brown v. Elliott, 225 U.S. 392, 401 (1912))

It is unclear when the Court determined the statute of limitation began to run but ruled "all claims arising prior to October 26, 2015<sup>4</sup> are time-barred". (R 21)

Therefore, appellant argued, this is a 42 USC 1983 civil conspiracy case filed in state court, at this time or point federal law applies. Under Federal Law, State law does not apply to the time of accrual in federal causes of actions. See Gibson v. United States 781 F.2d 1334 (9th Cir. 1986) ... rejecting plaintiffs reliance on state law regarding the running of the statute of limitations in a civil conspiracy under 42 U.S.C. 1983. Stating..."while state law prescribes the statute of limitation applicable to section 1983 claims, federal law governs the time of accrual." Citing Venegas v. Wagner, 704 F.2d 1144, 1145 (9th Cir.1983); Gowin v. Altmiller, 663 F.2d 820, 822 (9th Cir.1981)" );"Gibson v. United States 781 F.2d 1334 (9th Cir. 1986)

---

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