THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
Dec 14 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2019-002076
Case No. 2018-CP-40-5641

Ronald I. Paul,..... Appellant,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Appellant’s current Complaint is barred by the three-year statute of limitations applicable to actions brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

The Circuit Court dismissed the Appellant’s Complaint because it is barred by the applicable three-year statute of limitations. The Appellant’s current Complaint was filed on October 26, 2018, and as a result, all claims that arose prior to October 26, 2015 are time-barred. As the Circuit Court observed, “[t]he record, which includes orders and pleadings from the prior 2008, 2012, 2013, 2015, and 2016 lawsuits, demonstrates that the Plaintiff’s alleged claims accrued and were know to the [Appellant] prior to October 26, 2015.” (Order, p. 4). The Circuit Court also recognized that “the allegations of the current Complaint itself reflect that the causes of action accrued during the course of the 2002 condemnation action which, including appeals, ended in October 2007.” (Order, pp. 4-5). Moreover, the Circuit Court correctly found that the Appellant’s 2008 litigation, which ended in October 2011, “raised the same facts and conspiracy claims as presently re-asserted in the 2018 action.” (Order, p. 5).

To challenge the statute of limitations rulings on appeal, the Appellant makes four arguments. First, the Appellant argues that his first cause of action for declaratory relief was brought under state law and not federal law, specifically 42

U.S.C. § 1983. Second, the Appellant contends that his claim for declaratory relief is equitable in nature, to which the statute of limitations is inapplicable. Third, the Appellant insists that his claims involve a sealed instrument, and as a result, the proper statute of limitations would be twenty years under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-520(b). Finally, the Appellant argues that the last overt act giving rise to his conspiracy claim occurred in April 2018, and as a result, the conspiracy claim was timely brought. Each argument lacks merit.

As indicated, the Appellant argues that his first cause of action for declaratory relief is a state law claim rather than one brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. A clear reading of the Appellant's Complaint does not support that assertion. "Count One" in the Complaint includes the sub-caption "Declaratory Judgment 42 U.S.C. § 1983." (Complaint, p. 24). Indeed, the caption to the entire Complaint includes a reference to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (Complaint, p. 1). Moreover, the Appellant further pleads: "This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section[] 1983 for the defendants SCDOT; Oscar K. Rucker; Macie M. Gresham; Natalie J. Moore; Paul D. de Holczer; Michael H. Quinn; and J. Charles Ormond violating the Plaintiff's rights while acting under color of state law." (Complaint, p. 3). Finally, the Appellant seeks a declaration that his constitutional rights were violated, specifically his rights under the Takings Clause of the United States Constitution. (Complaint, p. 25). Thus, there is no question that the Circuit Court

correctly construed the first cause of action for declaratory relief as being alleged under federal law, specifically 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

The Appellant is also incorrect in arguing that his first cause of action for declaratory relief is equitable in nature, and thus, a statute of limitations is inapplicable. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has held, “[a] suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” *Felts v. Richland County*, 303 S.C. 354, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991). “An issue essentially one at law will not be transformed into one in equity simply because declaratory relief is sought.” *Id.* Here, as indicated, the Appellant’s claim for declaratory relief seeks a ruling that the Respondents violated the Appellant’s constitutional rights under the Takings Clause of the United States Constitution, which is an action at law. In fact, in paragraph 106, which contains the prayer for that first cause of action, the Appellant specifically seeks the recovery of monetary relief, namely “the resultant financial damages approximating \$310,000.00,” which is further proof that the declaratory judgment action is one at law. (Complaint, p. 25). As such, the three-year statute of limitations is a proper time bar on that claim.

Next, the Appellant insists that the applicable statute of limitations is twenty years under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-520(b) because the original condemnation action in 2002 involved property on which he had a commercial lease, which he

claims -- without proof -- was a sealed instrument. Nonetheless, it makes no difference whether the lease was a sealed instrument or not. Both of the Appellant's causes of action are brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and as the Circuit Court correctly ruled, the only appropriate statute of limitations for a Section 1983 action is three years. In determining the proper statute of limitations in a Section 1983 claim, the United States Supreme Court has found that the federal court should adopt the state law statute of limitations for personal injury. *Wilson v. Garcia*, 471 U.S. 261, 276 (1985). In *Owens v. Okure*, 488 U.S. 235 (1989), the Supreme Court further explained that "where state law provides multiple statutes of limitations for personal injury actions, courts considering § 1983 claims should borrow the general or residual statute for personal injury actions." 488 U.S. at 249-250. Under South Carolina law, the statute of limitations for a personal injury claim is three years. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(5). Consequently, this Court has held that "[i]n South Carolina, § 1983 claims are subject to a three-year statute of limitations." *Estate of Mims v. South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs*, 422 S.C. 388, 811 S.E.2d 807, 813 (Ct. App. 2018). *See also*, *Simmons v. South Carolina State Ports Authority*, 694 F.2d 64 (4th Cir. 1982). Thus, the Circuit Court was correct in applying a three-year statute of limitations to the Appellant's Section 1983 claims.

Finally, the Appellant argues that his second cause of action for conspiracy under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 was timely brought because the last overt act occurred on April 19, 2016. Specifically, the Appellant points to paragraph 79 of his Complaint, which reads: “In April of 2016, South Carolina Department of Transportation, Oscar K. Rucker, Macie M. Gresham, Natalie J. Moore, Paul D. de Holczer, Michael Quinn, G.L. Buckles, and J. Charles Ormond filed documents continuing to reject Paul’s claims.” (Complaint, p. 18). That is a reference to filings made in the last of the federal lawsuits, specifically Civil Action Number 3:16-1727-CMC-PGJ.

At the motion hearing, the Appellant explained to the Circuit Court that the “overt acts” that he was claiming to be timely are filings made to the federal or state courts or arguments made by the Respondents in the defense of the lawsuits that he has brought. (Tr. 50-52). Otherwise, as the Appellant conceded to the Circuit Court, the overt acts in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy occurred in the 2002 to 2008 time frame (Tr. 49-50), and certainly long before October 26, 2015. In his brief, the Appellant goes so far as to now argue that pleadings or motions filed *in this very case* are “overt acts” giving rise to the “continuing conspiracy” that began in 2002. *See*, Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 22.

Yet, it is well settled that measures taken to defend litigation brought by a plaintiff alleging a conspiracy, including the filing of pleadings in defense of the

action, cannot be treated as the “overt act” giving rise to the conspiracy. If that were the case, as the Appellant seems to argue without any supporting authority, practically speaking there would be no statute of limitations for a conspiracy claim. In that case, a plaintiff could, as the Appellant does here, file a lawsuit long after the alleged conspiracy was completed and then claim that the defendant’s denial of the conspiracy in its answer or other actions taken in defense of that lawsuit are the “overt act” giving rise to the “continuing conspiracy.” In *Thompson v. California Fair Plan Assn.*, 221 Cal.App.3d 760, 270 Cal.Rptr. 590 (1990), the California Court of Appeals held that “the defense of the suit cannot serve as an overt act sufficient to revive an otherwise time-barred claim on a conspiracy theory.” 270 Cal.Rptr. at 594. The court explained that the defense of an earlier lawsuit is not an overt act that can be considered “wrongful because it is absolutely privileged based on considerations of public policy encouraging free access to the courts.” *Id.* The United States Supreme Court has similarly held that the defense of litigation, specifically “the filing of the alleged libelous matter as part of the defendants’ answer in the mandamus action,” cannot be considered the overt act giving rise to an actionable conspiracy claim. *Nalle v. Oyster*, 230 U.S. 165, 183 (1913). *See also, United States v. Craft*, 105 F.3d 1123 (6th Cir. 1997) (court recognized that “filing the Notice of Appeal could not constitute an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy”); *McLean v. International Harvester Co.*, 817 F.2d 1214, 1220, n.8

(5th Cir. 1987) (stating that privileged statements made in litigation cannot form the overt act required to prove a civil conspiracy).³ Therefore, in the case at bar, the Circuit Court was correct in its analysis that the last “overt act” alleged by the Appellant occurred long before October 26, 2015, and therefore, the Appellant’s conspiracy claim was time-barred.

In sum, the Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Appellant’s Section 1983 claims are time-barred by application of a three-year statute of limitations. The orders and pleadings from the prior 2008, 2012, 2013, 2015, and 2016 lawsuits clearly demonstrate that the Appellant’s alleged claims accrued and were known to the Appellant prior to October 26, 2015. In fact, the very same facts and conspiracy claims were asserted in the 2008 action that was dismissed with prejudice. Thus, there is no question that the Appellant’s current Complaint is time-barred and was properly dismissed with prejudice.

³ The foregoing authorities recognize that arguments made in defense of litigation, including the filing of pleadings that deny the occurrence of a conspiracy, are privileged and thus cannot constitute the “overt act” giving rise to the conspiracy. South Carolina law also recognizes that the filing of court pleadings is absolutely privileged. *See, Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. 1, 567 S.E.2d 881 (Ct. App. 2002); *McKesson & Robbins*, 206 S.C. 269, 33 S.E.2d 585 (1945).

II. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Appellant's current Complaint is barred by the defense of res judicata or alternatively by the application of collateral estoppel.

The Circuit Court also ruled that the Appellant's current Complaint is barred by the defense of res judicata or alternatively by the application of collateral estoppel. On appeal, the Appellant contests that ruling by arguing only that his numerous federal court actions were dismissed by Judge Currie without prejudice and thus cannot be considered a decision on the merits. Nonetheless, the Appellant overlooks and fails to address the fact that the Circuit Court based its res judicata ruling on the 2008 *state court* action which was dismissed by Judge Strickland with prejudice, and not the various federal court cases. The Circuit Court ruled as follows:

This Court finds that the Plaintiff's current Complaint is barred by res judicata. The Plaintiff has previously litigated the same claims in the 2008 action, which resulted in a dismissal on the merits as issued by Judge Strickland. The three elements of res judicata are all satisfied. The 2008 action is final, valid, and on the merits. The parties in the 2008 action are identical, with the exception that Natalie Moore was not a party to that case. Lastly, the conspiracy claims asserted in both actions are the same. And certainly, even if not precisely the same, res judicata is a bar to any other claims that could have been brought as part of the 2008 action, which includes a Section 1983 claim for civil conspiracy.

(Order, pp. 5-6). In his brief, the Appellant does not even address this ruling and rather focuses only on the preclusive effect of Judge Currie's rulings in the federal

lawsuits. Thus, the Appellant’s appeal is barred by application of the two-issue rule.⁴

Nonetheless, even if properly preserved, the Circuit Court’s ruling based on res judicata is correct and should be affirmed. “Under the doctrine of res judicata, a final judgment on the merits in a prior action will preclude the parties from relitigating any issues actually litigated or those that might have been litigated in the first action.” *Wright v. Marlboro County School District*, 317 S.C. 160, 452 S.E.2d 12, 14 (Ct. App. 1994). “The res judicata defense requires a showing of three essential elements: (1) the prior judgment must be final, valid and on the merits; (2) the parties in the subsequent action must be identical to those in the first; and (3) the second action must involve matters properly included in the first action.” *Id.* Here, as the Circuit Court ruled, the prior judgment issued in the 2008 action was final, valid, and on the merits. (R. __). That judgment was affirmed in 2010 by this Court. (R. __). Thereafter, the Supreme Court denied the Appellant’s petition for writ of certiorari in 2011. (R. __). Likewise, the 2008 action involved the same parties and includes the same allegations and claims as asserted in this

⁴ In applying the “two-issue” rule, the Supreme Court has explained that “where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Similarly, in *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1986), this Court held that “[a]n alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal.” 348 S.E.2d at 845.

action. Consequently, the defense of res judicata was properly applied by the Circuit Court, and that ruling should be affirmed.

Alternatively, the Circuit Court found that the defense of collateral estoppel bars the relitigation of the same issues adjudicated in the 2008 action. The Appellant likewise did not address that issue, focusing instead on the federal lawsuits. The Circuit Court's dismissal of the current Complaint should be affirmed on the collateral estoppel defense as well.

III. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Respondents Quinn, Ormond, and their law firms are not state actors who may be held liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

The Circuit Court also ruled as “an additional basis for dismissal” that “the Defendants Quinn, Ormond, and their law firms argue that they are not ‘state actors’ and were not acting under ‘color of state law’ in their representation of the Plaintiff and the Buckles parties in the 2002 condemnation action.” (Order, p. 7). This Court need not reach this issue because the foregoing statute of limitations, res judicata, and collateral estoppel rulings are already dispositive. However, in the event the Court reaches this issue, the Circuit Court's ruling is correct.

The Circuit Court's decision is supported by numerous federal cases. In *Marcantoni v. Bealefeld*, 734 Fed. Appx. 198 (4th Cir. 2018), the Fourth Circuit explained that “private attorneys do not act under color of state law and a § 1983

suit may not be maintained against an attorney based on his representation.” 734 Fed. Appx. at 199. A federal district court recently explained: “Overwhelmingly, courts, including the Supreme Court, have found that a lawyer representing a client is not, by virtue of being an officer of the court, a state actor under color of state law within the meaning of § 1983.” *Loved Ones in Home Care, LLC v. Toor*, 2019 WL 2708459, *3 (S.D. W.Va. 2019). *See also, Mason v. Department of Justice*, 39 Fed. Appx. 205, 207 (6th Cir. 2002) (“private attorneys do not act under color of law in the representation of their individual clients”).

In sum, the Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Respondents Quinn, Ormond, and their law firms are not proper parties and were properly dismissed on this additional basis.

IV. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Appellant was not entitled to an opportunity to file an amended complaint where the dismissal was on the merits based on legal defenses and not on pleading deficiencies that could be corrected.

Lastly, the Appellant argues that the Circuit Court erred in denying him the opportunity to replead or amend his Complaint. However, as the Circuit Court recognized, with respect to grounds that may be characterized as pleading deficiencies, a dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, should generally be without prejudice, and “[t]he plaintiff in most cases should be given an opportunity to file

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